
There is an induction hearing loop system available in all meeting rooms.  Some of the 
systems are infra-red operated, if you wish to use this system then please contact 
Paulina Ford on (01733) 452508 as soon as possible.

AB
JOINT MEETING OF THE SCRUTINY COMMITTEES AND 
COMMISSIONS

THURSDAY 26 NOVEMBER 2015
6.00 PM

Council Chamber - Town Hall

AGENDA
Page No

1. Apologies

2. Declarations of Interest and Whipping Declarations

At this point Members must declare whether they have a disclosable 
pecuniary interest, or other interest, in any of the items on the agenda, 
unless it is already entered in the register of members’ interests or is a 
“pending notification “ that has been disclosed to the Solicitor to the Council. 
Members must also declare if they are subject to their party group whip in 
relation to any items under consideration.

3. Budget 2016/17 and Medium Term Financial Strategy to 2025/26 3 - 22

MEMBERS ARE REMINDED TO BRING THEIR COPY OF THE MEDIUM 
TERM FINANCIAL STRATEGY BUDGET 2016/17 PHASE ONE 
PROPOSALS DOCUMENT FROM CABINET DATED NOVEMBER 2015 
TO THE MEETING IN ADDITION TO THIS AGENDA PACK.

Recording of Council Meetings: Any member of the public may film, audio-record, take 
photographs and use social media to report the proceedings of any meeting that is open to the 
public. A protocol on this facility is available at: 

http://democracy.peterborough.gov.uk/documents/s21850/Protocol%20on%20the%20use%20of%
20Recording.pdf

Committee Members:

Councillors: K Aitken, C Ash, R Bisby, R Brown, P Faustino, R Ferris, L Forbes, D Fower, J A Fox, 
F Fox, J R Fox, C Harper, D Harrington, A Iqbal, M Jamil, N Khan,  J Knowles, S Martin, E Murphy, 

J Okonkowski, D Over, J Peach, B Rush, B Saltmarsh, D Sanders, N Sandford,  A Shaheed, 
J Shearman, J Stokes, J Whitby and J Yonga

Public Document Pack

http://democracy.peterborough.gov.uk/documents/s21850/Protocol%20on%20the%20use%20of%20Recording.pdf
http://democracy.peterborough.gov.uk/documents/s21850/Protocol%20on%20the%20use%20of%20Recording.pdf


Education Co-optees: Paul Rossi, (Roman Catholic Church Representative),
Miranda Robinson,(Church of England Representative), 

Andrew Reed, (Director of Education & Training), Diocese of Ely
Stuart Francis, Parent Governor Representative

Independent Co-opted Members:

Joe Dobson, Helpston Parish Council 
Keith Lievesley, Ufford Parish Council
Henry Clark, Peakirk Parish Council 

Philip Nuttall, Marholm Parish Council
Alistair Kingsley 

Substitutes: Councillors: G Nawaz, P Thacker, M Nadeem, K Sharp, A Miners, R Herdman,
 J Johnson, N Shabbir, S Lane, J Davidson

Further information about this meeting can be obtained from Paulina Ford on telephone (01733) 
452508 or by email – paulina.ford@peterborough.gov.uk

Emergency Evacuation Procedure – Outside Normal Office Hours

In the event of the fire alarm sounding all persons should vacate the building by way of the nearest escape 
route and proceed directly to the assembly point in front of the Cathedral.  The duty Beadle will assume 
overall control during any evacuation, however in the unlikely event the Beadle is unavailable, this 
responsibility will be assumed by the Committee Chair.



JOINT MEETING OF THE SCRUTINY
COMMITTEES AND COMMISSIONS

Agenda Item No. 3

26 NOVEMBER 2015 Public Report

Report of the Executive Director Resources

Contact Officer(s) – John Harrison, Executive Director Resources
Steven Pilsworth, Service Director – Financial Services

Contact Details - (01733) 452520 or email john.harrison@peterborough.gov.uk
(01733) 384564 or email steven.pilsworth@peterborough.gov.uk

 BUDGET 2016/17 AND MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL STRATEGY TO 2025/26

1. PURPOSE

1.1. This report comes to the Joint Meeting as part of the Council’s agreed process for 
budget-setting and as part of the process to approve a Council Tax Support Scheme for 
2016/17.

2. RECOMMENDATIONS

2.1. That the Joint Meeting considers and makes appropriate recommendations on Cabinet’s:

 Budget proposals outlined in the Medium Term Financial Strategy Phase 1 
Budget Conversation document from Cabinet and Cabinet’s specific report on 25 
November 2015; and

 Council Tax Support Scheme and discretionary hardship policy 2016/17.

3. LINKS TO THE SUSTAINABLE COMMUNITY STRATEGY

3.1. The Budget 2016/17 and the Medium Term Financial Strategy continues to align to the 
priorities and vision for Peterborough set out in the Sustainable Community Strategy.

4. BACKGROUND

4.1. The Cabinet meeting on 25th November 2015 considered the Phase One budget 
proposals which contribute towards setting a balanced budget for 2016/17. However, 
these proposals will not provide a balanced budget for 2016/17 and it will be necessary 
for Cabinet to identify and consult on a second phase of savings commencing January 
2016 to deliver the remaining £7.5m required. On 25th November Cabinet considered 
recommendations that:

 The Phase One budget proposals for consultation be approved (Appendix A).
 Cabinet convenes on 7th December 2015 to consider feedback in order to seek 

the endorsement of the Council meeting of 17th December 2015 to the Cabinet’s 
savings proposals and plan to implement those proposals at the earliest 
opportunity.

 Peterborough’s Council Tax Support Scheme 1 April 2016 – 31 March 2017 
contains the following local components: 
o No change to the existing scheme entitlement of 30% for all eligible 

working age claimants 
o Align the Council Tax Support Scheme to Housing Benefit rules making it 

less complicated for claimants, namely to:
 Limit backdating of council tax support to one month.

3



 Remove family premiums from all new claimants, or existing 
claimants who would otherwise have had a new entitlement to the 
premium, with effect from 1 May 2016. 

 A Council Tax discretionary hardship policy be implemented with effect from 1 
April 2016.

4.2. Appendix A of this report contains the relevant report regarding the Medium Term 
Financial Strategy to Cabinet on 25 November 2015, and Appendix A of that report the 
Phase 1 Budget Conversation document can be accessed via the following link 
http://democracy.peterborough.gov.uk/documents/s25489/8.%20Appendix%20A%20-
%20Medium%20Term%20Financial%20Strategy%202016-17%20to%202025-26.pdf

4.3. Appendix B of this report contains a copy of the Council Tax Support Scheme proposals 
also discussed at Cabinet on 25th November 2015. 

4.4. All Cabinet Members and Directors have been requested to attend to answer specific 
questions the Joint Meeting may have.

5. KEY ISSUES

5.1. The key issues are outlined in the appendices of this report. 

6. COUNCIL TAX SUPPORT SCHEME

6.1. Alongside the budget process, Cabinet is separately consulting on the Council Tax 
Support Scheme’s operational parameters for 2016/17, which, under legislation, requires 
Council to approve a scheme by 31 January 2016. The consultation was launched by a 
separate Cabinet report on 25th November (Appendix B) recommended to approve the 
actions as outlined in section 4.1

6.2. Members of the Joint Meeting will have the opportunity to ask questions on the Council 
Tax Support Scheme during the meeting as part of the consultation process.

7. IMPLICATIONS

7.1. Budget proposal implications are outlined within the report to Cabinet in Appendix A. The 
report specifically makes reference to the consultation process and noted that the 
consultation to be undertaken as a result of Cabinet’s report is on the budget proposals, 
and consequently the Cabinet’s general approach to the savings requirements, and not 
on the various decisions to take whatever actions that may be implicit in the proposals 
and later adoption of that budget, each of which may or may not require their own 
consultation process.

7.2. Council Tax Support Scheme implications are outlined in Appendix B of this report.

8. CONSULTATION

8.1. The budget consultation process and proposals are outlined in section 6 of Cabinet’s 
report in Appendix A. Feedback is sought from Scrutiny, residents, partner organisations, 
businesses and other interested parties on the Phase 1 proposals. The Council will look 
to repeat the outlined approach with the phase two proposals released in January.

9. NEXT STEPS

9.1. Any recommendations and comments made by the Joint Meeting will be referred to the 
Cabinet for consideration at their meeting on 7th December 2015.

4

http://democracy.peterborough.gov.uk/documents/s25489/8.%20Appendix%20A%20-%20Medium%20Term%20Financial%20Strategy%202016-17%20to%202025-26.pdf
http://democracy.peterborough.gov.uk/documents/s25489/8.%20Appendix%20A%20-%20Medium%20Term%20Financial%20Strategy%202016-17%20to%202025-26.pdf
http://democracy.peterborough.gov.uk/documents/s25489/8.%20Appendix%20A%20-%20Medium%20Term%20Financial%20Strategy%202016-17%20to%202025-26.pdf


10. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS

10.1. Appendix A – Cabinet Report 25th November 2015 – Medium Term Financial Strategy 
2015/16

Appendix A to the above Cabinet Report  – Phase 1 Budget Consultation Document can 
be accessed via the following link : 
http://democracy.peterborough.gov.uk/documents/s25489/8.%20Appendix%20A%20-
%20Medium%20Term%20Financial%20Strategy%202016-17%20to%202025-26.pdf

10.2. Appendix B – Cabinet Report 25th November 2015 – Council Tax Support Scheme

5

http://democracy.peterborough.gov.uk/documents/s25489/8.%20Appendix%20A%20-%20Medium%20Term%20Financial%20Strategy%202016-17%20to%202025-26.pdf
http://democracy.peterborough.gov.uk/documents/s25489/8.%20Appendix%20A%20-%20Medium%20Term%20Financial%20Strategy%202016-17%20to%202025-26.pdf


This page is intentionally left blank

6



                                                                                                                                      APPENDIX A

CABINET AGENDA ITEM No. 

25 NOVEMBER 2015 PUBLIC REPORT

Cabinet Member(s) responsible: Councillor David Seaton, Cabinet Member for Resources
Contact Officer(s): John Harrison, Executive Director Resources

Steven Pilsworth, Service Director – Financial Services
Tel. 452520
Tel. 384564

MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL STRATEGY 2016/17 TO 2025/26

R E C O M M E N D A T I O N S
FROM : Cabinet Member for Resources Deadline date : 17 November 2015
  
It is recommended that Cabinet approve the Phase One Budget Proposals included in Appendix A 
as the basis for consultation.

1.       ORIGIN OF REPORT

1.1. The Cabinet meeting of 21 September 2015 considered a report ‘Medium Term Financial 
Strategy 2016/17 to 2025/26’ and within this report considered the budget process 
timelines for setting a balanced budget for 2015/16 and options for allowing the maximum 
possible consultation period with the public. 

1.2.  On 14 October 2015, Council agreed to continue a two-phased approach to the 
consultation process. This will ensure that the views of all residents, partner organisations, 
businesses and other interested parties to understand the scale of the financial challenge 
and have the opportunity to feed back their views, commencing with the first tranche of 
budget proposals.

2.        PURPOSE AND REASON FOR REPORT

2.1. This report comes to Cabinet as part of the council’s Budget and Policy Framework that 
requires Cabinet to initiate and propose budget proposals to set a balanced budget for the 
forthcoming financial year.

2.2. The purpose of this report is to:

2.2.1. Recommend that Cabinet approve the first phase of budget proposals for consultation to 
contribute towards closing the budget gap of £19.6m. Subject to Scrutiny feedback and 
comments from residents, partner organisations, businesses and other interested parties, 
Cabinet will recommend budget proposals to Council in December 2015 to implement at the 
earliest opportunity. 

2.2.2. Outline the approach for the remaining budget process.

2.2.3. Outline the financial challenge the council faces in setting a balanced budget for 2016/17. 

2.3. This report is for Cabinet to consider under its Terms of Reference No. 3.2.1 which gives 
Cabinet collective responsibility for the delivery of all strategic Executive functions within 

7



the Council’s Major Policy and Budget Framework and lead the Council’s overall 
improvement programmes to deliver excellent services.

3.       TIMESCALES

Is this a Major Policy 
Item/Statutory Plan? Yes

If Yes, date for relevant 
Cabinet Meeting

25th November 
2015

Date for relevant Council 
Meeting

17th  December 
2015

Date for submission to 
Government department N/A

4.       EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

4.1. The report outlines the financial position of the Council for 2016/17, as well as Cabinet’s 
approach to tackling the challenge by releasing budget proposals in two phases. The 
deficit is currently forecast to be £19.6m and the proposals total £12.1m. This leaves a 
further £7.5m of budget savings to be brought forward in January 2016.

5.        FINANCIAL POSITION AND BUDGET PROPOSALS

5.1. The budget proposals must be set in the context of the incredibly challenging financial 
position that all councils face. Since the financial crisis of 2008, the public sector has seen 
unprecedented reductions in funding. In the five years to 2015/16, the council has seen its 
government funding cut by £44m, which equates to nearly 40 per cent of its government 
grant.

5.2. For next year (2016/17), it is forecast that the Council will see a further government grant 
reduction of £9.7m. The Comprehensive Spending Review on 25th November will give an 
indication of what the final scale of grant reductions will be, however the true scale of the 
cuts will not be known until the provisional Local Government Finance Settlement is 
published. Whilst this information is usually released in late December, the late timing of 
the Comprehensive Spending review may mean that the Provisional Settlement is not 
published until early 2016. 

5.3. In addition, it faces financial pressures of £9.9m as a result of an increasing demand for 
services and changes to the Council’s statutory duties. This creates a significant challenge 
of finding £19.6m of savings and efficiencies to balance the budget, which will increase to 
a gap of £40.3m by 2020/21.

5.4. The first tranche of budget proposals accompanies this report (Appendix A) and includes 
both savings and emerging pressures. However, these proposals will not provide a 
balanced budget for 2016/17 and it will be necessary for Cabinet to identify and consult on 
a second tranche of savings commencing January 2016 to deliver the remaining £7.5m of 
proposals to balance the budget.

8



5.5. Summary of Phase 1 budget proposals:

2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21
 

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000
MTFS Budget Gap (March 2015) 10,150 14,090 17,470 20,520 22,270 
Forecast grant reductions 6,910 13,990 16,280 12,130 12,130 
Emerging pressures - legislative 890 1,450 2,010 2,580 4,140 
Emerging pressures - local issues 1,650 1,680 1,790 1,780 1,770 
Updated Budget Gap Phase 1 19,600 31,210 37,550 37,010 40,310 
        
Savings - phase 1  (9,430) (11,260) (12,650) (12,810) (13,380)
Carry forward of 2015/16 savings (2,660) 0 0 0 0 
Budget Gap at end of phase 1 7,510 19,950 24,900 24,200 26,930 

5.6.  As part of the budget-setting process, Cabinet is also considering recommendations 
regarding the level of Council Tax support that the Council provides to working-age 
claimants. It has been recommended that the Council continues with the existing level of 
support it currently provides in 2016/17. 

5.7.  In addition to this, it is also recommended that the Council Tax Support Scheme is aligned 
to Housing Benefit, making the scheme less complicated for claimants. Claims for Council 
Tax Support will only be backdated for a period of one month and family premium 
payments will cease from 1st May 2016. 

5.8.  Detailed information on this proposal has been included as a separate report to this 
meeting. 

5.9.  The Phase 1 Budget Conversation document can be found in Appendix A. The Phase 2 
budget proposals will follow in January and Members and interested parties will again be 
able to provide feedback on this second tranche.

6.        CONSULTATION APPROACH

6.1.  Cabinet have been working over a period of five months and several meetings with the 
Cross-Party Budget Working Group to seek views on all Cabinet budget proposals, 
including the opportunity to make alternative suggestions. As part of these meetings, the 
Budget Working Group explored options to commence consultation at the earliest 
opportunity

6.2.  The budget process will have two phases for Cabinet to put forward budget proposals, 
recommending these proposals to two separate Council meetings. The first meeting held 
in December will be to consider the first tranche of budget proposals. The second meeting 
will be the formal process to set out a lawful and balanced budget for the remaining budget 
proposals to be published during January 2016 and recommended by Cabinet for approval 
by Council on 9th March 2016. This timeline is outlined overleaf:

9



Meeting Content Date
Phase One

Cabinet Release of first tranche of budget proposals
25th November 
2015

Scrutiny Formal scrutiny of budget proposals
26th November 
2015

Cabinet

To recommend the first tranche of budget 
proposals to Council having regard to 
feedback

7th December 
2015

Council
Approve the first tranche of budget 
proposals

17th December 
2015

Phase Two (including the remaining budget documents for Council Tax, reserves 
and the Medium Term Financial Strategy)

Cabinet 
Release of second tranche of budget 
proposals 18th January 2016

Scrutiny Formal scrutiny of budget proposals
10th February 
2016

Cabinet

To recommend the second tranche of 
budget proposals to Council having regard 
to feedback

29th February 
2016

Council Approval of budget and council tax 9th March 2016

6.3. Alongside the budget process, there is a legislative requirement to approve the council’s 
council tax support scheme annually each year. The timeline is as follows:

Meeting Content Date

Cabinet
Recommend the scheme to Council for 
approval 18th January 2016

Council Approve the Council Tax Support Scheme 27th January 2016

6.4. The following budget events will be held during phase one to enable residents, partner 
organisations, businesses and other interested parties to feedback on budget proposals 
and council priorities:

 Staff meetings
 Discussion with the trade unions
 Discussion with the business community
 Borderline Peterborough Local Commissioning Group
 Peterborough Housing Partnership
 Greater Peterborough Partnership City Leaders forum
 Disability Forum
 Connect Group
 Schools Forum
 Parish Councils
 Peterborough Community Assistance Scheme
 Youth Council

6.5. A hard copy of the phase one budget proposals and Budget Conversation document will be 
available in all libraries and Town Hall and Bayard Place receptions. The council will also 
receive responses via an on-line survey on its website.

6.6. We will also promote the Budget Conversation through the local media and through the 
council’s Facebook and Twitter accounts to encourage as many people as possible to 
have their say.

10



6.7.  The Council will look to repeat this approach with the Phase 2 proposals to be released in 
January.

7.        ANTICIPATED OUTCOMES

7.1.  Following the release of the first tranche of budget proposals to tackle the financial gap 
and outlining Cabinet’s priorities and vision for Peterborough, Cabinet is seeking the 
opinions of all residents, partner organisations, businesses and other interested parties to 
understand which council services matter most. The Council must set a balanced budget 
for 2016/17 within the financial resources it will have next year and the feedback received 
will help inform Cabinet in considering budget proposals within the second tranche.

8.       REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS

8.1. The Council must set a lawful and balanced budget. The approach outlined in this report 
work towards this requirement.

9.       ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED

9.1. No alternative option has been considered as the Cabinet is responsible under the 
Constitution for initiating Budget Proposals and the Council is statutorily obliged to set a 
lawful and balanced budget by 11th March annually.

10.       IMPLICATIONS

10.1. Elected Members

10.2. Members must have regard to the advice of the Section 151 Officer. The Council may take 
decisions which are at variance with this advice, providing there are reasonable grounds to 
do so. 

10.3. It is an offence for any Members with arrears of Council Tax which have been outstanding 
for two months or more to attend any meeting of the Council or its committees at which a 
decision affecting the budget is made, unless the Members concerned declare at the outset 
of the meeting they are in arrears and will not be voting on the decision for that reason.

10.4. Legal Implications

10.5. In terms of the Council’s executive arrangements, the adoption of the Council’s Budget is a 
role shared between the Cabinet and the Council, whereby the Cabinet (Leader) is 
responsible for formulating the budget proposals and full Council is responsible for then 
approving (or not) those proposals and setting the budget and council tax requirement.

10.6. For the remainder of the year, the principal purpose of the Budget is to set the upper limits 
of what the executive (Leader, Cabinet or officer under delegated executive authority) may 
decide to spend the Council’s resources on. The Council cannot through the Budget 
overrule an executive decision as to how to spend the money, but the Budget will require 
the Cabinet to exercise their responsibilities for decision making so as not to make a 
decision where they are ‘minded to determine the matter contrary to, or not wholly in 
accordance with the authority's budget’. This means that a decision that leads to excess 
expenditure, a virement from one budget heading to another over the amount allowed by 
Council in the Budget Book or expenditure of unexpected new money outside of the Budget 
is required to have approval of the Council before the Leader and Cabinet can make that 
decision.

11



10.7.  When it comes to make its decision on 9th March 2016, the Council is under a legal duty to 
meet the full requirements of section 31A of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 
which includes the obligation to produce a balanced budget.

10.8.  A principle of fairness applies to consultation on the budget proposals, both consultation 
required under s65 of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 and more generally as 
proposed here, which operates as a set of rules of law. These rules are that:

 Consultation must be at a time when proposals are still at a formative stage; 

 The proposer must give sufficient reasons for any proposal to permit of intelligent 
consideration and response; 

 Adequate time must be given for consideration and response; and 

 The product of consultation must be conscientiously taken into account in finalising 
any statutory proposals.

10.9.  Added to which are two further principles that allow for variation in the form of consultation, 
which are:

 The degree of specificity with which, in fairness, the public authority should conduct 
its consultation exercise may be influenced by the identity of those whom it is 
consulting; and 

 The demands of fairness are likely to be somewhat higher when an authority 
contemplates depriving someone of an existing benefit or advantage than when the 
claimant is a bare applicant for a future benefit.

10.10.  It should be noted that the consultation to be undertaken as a result of this report is on the 
Budget proposals, and consequently the Cabinet’s general approach to the savings 
requirements, and not on the various decisions to take whatever actions that may be 
implicit in the proposals and later adoption of that budget, each of which may or may not 
require their own consultation process.

10.11.  Human Resource Implications

10.12. In order to deliver the Phase One changes outlined in this document some posts will be 
affected. The table below explains the staffing implications. 

10.13. The approach to minimising any compulsory redundancies will be the same as in other 
years, including deleting vacant posts, redeployment of affected staff and seeking 
voluntary redundancies where it is possible to do so. 

10.14. This information relates to Council staff only. We will outline the impact of the Phase Two 
proposals when they are published in January.

Staff implications Total 
Total number of affected posts 12
Less vacant posts to be deleted (4)
Posts be to affected through redundancies 8
Less voluntary redundancy acceptances TBC
Potential compulsory redundancy total 8

10.15. Equality Impact Assessments

10.16. All budget proposals published in this first tranche have been considered with regards to 
equality issues and where appropriate equality impact assessments have been completed 
and available on the council’s website.

12



11.       BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS

11.1. Appendix A – Phase 1 Budget Conversation Document 

http://democracy.peterborough.gov.uk/documents/s25489/8.%20Appendix%20A%20-
%20Medium%20Term%20Financial%20Strategy%202016-17%20to%202025-26.pdf

13

http://democracy.peterborough.gov.uk/documents/s25489/8.%20Appendix%20A%20-%20Medium%20Term%20Financial%20Strategy%202016-17%20to%202025-26.pdf
http://democracy.peterborough.gov.uk/documents/s25489/8.%20Appendix%20A%20-%20Medium%20Term%20Financial%20Strategy%202016-17%20to%202025-26.pdf
http://democracy.peterborough.gov.uk/documents/s25489/8.%20Appendix%20A%20-%20Medium%20Term%20Financial%20Strategy%202016-17%20to%202025-26.pdf


This page is intentionally left blank

14



                                                                                                                                     APPENDIX B

CABINET AGENDA ITEM No. 

25 NOVEMBER 2015 PUBLIC REPORT

Cabinet Member(s) responsible: Councillor David Seaton, Cabinet Member for Resources
Contact Officer(s): John Harrison, Corporate Director Resources

Steven Pilsworth, Service Director Financial Services
Tel. 452520
       384564

COUNCIL TAX SUPPORT SCHEME CONSULTATION 2016/17

R E C O M M E N D A T I O N S
FROM : Corporate Director Resources Deadline date : 17 November 2015

It is recommended:

1. That Cabinet approve consultation on Peterborough’s council tax support scheme 1 April 
2016 – 31 March 2017 that contains the following local components: 

a) No change to the existing scheme reduction of 30% for all eligible working age claimants; 
b) Align the council tax support scheme to Housing Benefit rules making it less complicated 

for claimants, namely to:
i. Limit backdating of council tax support to one month
ii. Removes family premiums from all new claimants, or existing claimants who would 

otherwise have had a new entitlement to the premium, with effect from 1 May 2016.
 

2. That Cabinet approve consultation on introducing a council tax discretionary hardship policy 
with effect from 1 April 2016.

3. That Cabinet note the possible impact on government tax credit changes on Peterborough’s 
council tax support scheme from 1 April 2016.

4. That Cabinet note further changes that will need to be considered for Peterborough’s council 
tax support scheme from April 2017.

1. ORIGIN OF REPORT

1.1 This report is submitted to Cabinet following discussion by the Corporate Management 
Team (CMT), Cabinet Policy Forum and the cross party Budget Working Group.

2. PURPOSE AND REASON FOR REPORT

2.1 The purpose of this report is to commence consultation for a localised council tax support 
scheme for the financial year 2016/17. There is a statutory requirement for the council to 
set a localised council tax support scheme by 31 January 2016 and forms part of the formal 
budget process under the Budget and Policy framework. 

2.2 This report is for Cabinet to consider under its Terms of Reference Number 3.2.1 which 
states ‘to take collective responsibility for the delivery of all strategic Executive functions 
within the council’s Major Policy and Budget Framework and lead the council’s overall 
improvement programmes to deliver excellent services.

15



3. TIMESCALE

Is this a Major Policy 
Item/Statutory Plan?

YES If Yes, date for relevant 
Cabinet Meeting

18 January 
2016

Date for relevant Council 
meeting

27 January 
2016

Date for submission to 
Government Dept – 
Communities and 
Local Government

31 January 
2016

4. BACKGROUND

Council Tax Support Scheme (CTSS)

4.1 Since April 2013 council tax benefit was abolished by Government and replaced with a 
localised Council Tax Support Scheme (CTSS). This meant councils had to develop a local 
scheme, and had less funding to do so. This change mean that:

 Some people who did not have to pay any council tax will now have to pay something
 Some people who have some help may have to pay more

4.2 Following extensive consultation in Autumn 2012 by the council on a localised CTSS on a 
range of options, the level of council tax benefit was reduced by 30% after being deemed 
the best option to implement with the aim of the scheme being cost neutral (i.e. the cost of 
local government grant reductions would be offset by changes in the benefit scheme).

4.3 Following further grant reductions in 2015/16, the council consulted on whether to change 
the scheme to 35% or 40%. Ultimately the scheme remained at 30%. The further grant 
reductions planned for 2016/17 will affect the grant provided for council tax support (which 
is now subsumed within the councils main grant – which is due to phased out by 2019/20). 
As such the council could consider consulting on further changes to benefit levels to 
mitigate this.

4.4 By the 31 January preceding the forthcoming financial year, the council is statutorily 
required to approve the council tax support scheme parameters that will be applicable, 
consulting on any amendments. For the financial year 2016/17, the council will need to 
approve a council tax support scheme by 31 January 2016.

Council tax discretionary hardship policy

4.5 The council can introduce a council tax discretionary hardship policy under current 
legislation that would operate alongside the operation of council tax. Claimants would need 
to meet policy eligibility criteria to qualify for a reduction in council tax.

4.6 The council acts responsibly in collecting council tax and recognises that in some instances 
people may struggle to pay their council tax. In March 2014, the council signed up to the 
Citizen’s Advice Bureau (CAB) Collection of Council Tax Arrears Good Practice Protocol. 
The protocol confirms the commitment by the council to do all it can to support people 
struggling with debt to help them avoid becoming in arrears.

5. PROPOSED CHANGES FOR CONSULTATION

Council Tax Support Scheme (CTSS) 1 April 2016 to 31 March 3017

5.1 Peterborough City Council’s Council Tax Support Scheme (CTSS) is based on the Council 
Tax Reduction Default Scheme Regulations amended each year through changes to the 
government regulations. Government announced earlier this year that it was proposing 
changes to Housing Benefit rules and tax credits. The current scheme will therefore no 
longer be aligned to other benefits. By aligning the council tax support scheme to Housing 

16



Benefit rules will make it less complicated for claimants and enable an easier transition to 
implementing Universal Credit.

5.2 This report sets out the proposed local components to Peterborough’s CTSS for financial 
year 2016/17 to mirror the proposed changes to Housing Benefit and would equally apply to 
Universal Credit namely:

a) Maintains an overall reduction in entitlement of 30% for all eligible working age 
claimants

b) Limits backdating of housing benefit to one month instead of six months
c) Removes family premiums from all new claimants, or existing claimants who would 

otherwise have had a new entitlement to the premium, with effect from 1 May 2016. 
This change is subject to amendments being made by the supplier of the council tax 
IT system that the council use. 

5.3 Universal Credit is being rolled out nationally which replaces a number of benefits into a 
single benefit called Universal Credit. This will impact the Peterborough area by 1 April 
2016 and therefore the local scheme will equally apply these changes to Universal Credit 
working age claimants. 

5.4 The government is proposing to make changes to tax credits and based on the chancellor’s 
Summer Budget may increase costs on local schemes as follows:

a) Tax credit taper is increasing from 41% to 48%. This will reduce people’s income if 
in receipt of working tax credit and so will mean they may be entitled to more council 
tax support as a result.

b) Reduction in benefit cap. This will reduce the income available to affected 
households and may affect their ability to pay council tax support

c) Reduced tax credit disregard for in year change of circumstances. Increases in 
earnings are now more likely to be taken into account in-year, meaning a higher 
likelihood of tax credit entitlement reducing in-year. This would give people a higher 
entitlement to council tax support

5.5 The chancellor’s Autumn Statement is expected to confirm government’s approach to tax 
credits and what changes, if any, government will make following recent discussions in 
parliament. Based on the Summer Budget, the council forecasts these changes will cost the 
area of Peterborough £0.3m and one option would be to pass this additional cost onto 
claimants by amending the 30% scheme. Cabinet propose not to pass this cost onto 
claimants and will therefore meet this cost elsewhere as part of the overall budget setting 
process. The area of Peterborough council tax comprises of the city council, the Police and 
Crime Commissioner, the Fire Authority and Parish councils.

Council tax discretionary hardship policy

5.6 In light of these amendments proposed on the local scheme and the current operation of 
the local scheme, Cabinet is proposing to introduce a council tax discretionary hardship 
policy (Appendix 1) with effect from 1 April 2016. Primarily the policy scheme would:

a) Exist for those experiencing significant financial hardship
b) For those in receipt of council tax support
c) Is discretionary and would be subject to demonstrating that effort has been made to 

control finances and sought advice
d) Would apply from the point of introduction, and not for arrears

5.7 It is suggested that any such scheme should link into the council’s Peterborough Community 
Assistance Scheme (PCAS) arrangements. This scheme provides other support and advice 
to those experiencing financial hardship. It is suggested that applications are only made 
following an appointment with Peterborough Citizens Advice Bureau to discuss all support 
available. The decision will be made by the council on whether the application is successful 
and the level of reduction in council tax that is awarded.

17



5.8 Cabinet is proposing to set aside a maximum of £50,000 to cover the scheme and associated 
administration costs per annum.

6. FUTURE CHANGES TO COUNCIL TAX SUPPORT SCHEME

Council Tax Support Scheme (CTSS) 1 April 2017 to 31 March 3018

6.1 Further changes to Housing Benefit and Universal Credit by government are expected from 
April 2017 and Cabinet will therefore need to consider whether to make changes to the local 
scheme for 2016/17. For example:

a) Child allowances will no longer be applied for the third and subsequent children 
born after  6 April 2017 in claims, for child tax credit, housing benefit and universal 
credit, although there will be provision for ‘exceptional circumstances’ such as 
multiple births

b) Housing Benefit element of Universal Credit removed for under 21s from April 
2017. It is expected that the council tax support scheme will be amended to reflect 
‘classes or persons entitled to a reduction under this scheme’ as being anyone 
who is not a pensioner and is aged 21 or over with applicable exceptions.

6.2 These changes will be consulted upon autumn 2016 including any other amendments that 
maybe required.

7. IMPACT OF THESE CHANGES

7.1 The financial impact on the council’s finances of the changes outlined in this report can be 
seen in the table below and are based on current Cabinet discussions on council tax 
setting and collection rates.  

2016/17
£k

2017/18
£k

2018/19
£k

2019/20
£k

2020/21
£k

Tax credits – Summer Budget 249 259 267 277 286
Other technical changes proposed to align 
to Housing Benefit 0 0 0 0 0
Introduction of Discretionary Hardship 
Policy 50 50 50 50 50
Update to budget position 299 309 317 327 336

8. CONSULTATION

8.1 The proposed changes outlined in this report will having regard feedback from consultation 
will become Peterborough’s council tax support scheme for 1 April 2016 – 31 March 2017 
including an introduction of a discretionary hardship policy. Cabinet launch the consultation 
after 25 November 2015 and will be remain open until 25 January 2016 although Cabinet 
will receive an update of responses to date for their January Cabinet meeting.

8.2 An online consultation document is available to respond to the consultation and some hard 
copies will be made available on request in the Town Hall and Bayard Receptions and 
Central Library. Members’ scrutiny will be undertaken as part of the scrutiny meeting set 
aside for phase one budget discussion. Cabinet will also write to the following 
organisations to raise awareness of the consultation:

a) Peterborough Community Assistance Scheme (PCAS) Board consisting of:
i. Peterborough Citizen’s Advice Bureau
ii. Kingsgate Community Church
iii. Credit Union
iv. MIND
v. Disability Peterborough

18



vi. Age UK Peterborough
b) Cambridgeshire Police Authority
c) Cambridgeshire Fire Authority

8.3 Feedback from the consultation will be incorporated into recommendation by Cabinet to 
Council in January 2016.

9. ANTICIPATED OUTCOMES

9.1 This report launches the consultation for the operational council tax support scheme from 1 
April 2016 and the discretionary council tax hardship policy as part of the formal budget 
process outlined in the council’s Major Policy and Budget Framework. The consultation 
responses will inform the design of the operational scheme and any financial implications 
arising from the final design will be factored into the medium term financial strategy.

10. REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS

10.1 The council is statutorily required to approve a council tax support scheme by the 31 
January 2016 having had regard for the council’s financial position and feedback from 
responses to the consultation. As part of this consultation, the council is consulting on a 
council tax discretionary hardship policy. 

11. ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED

11.1 The council is statutorily required to approve a local scheme by 31 January but could 
choose to make no changes to the current 2015/16 local scheme. Cabinet have discussed 
the current 30% council tax support scheme with the cross party Budget Working Group as 
part of ongoing budget discussions. Options discussed were: 

 One option would be to increase the 30% scheme, however this would have a 
negative impact on low income households with claimants having to pay more 
council tax. 

 Another option would be to reduce the 30% scheme, however, this would require 
the council to find savings of up to £2.4m from elsewhere in the budget.

12. IMPLICATIONS

12.1 Financial and legal implications have been considered elsewhere in this report. An equality 
impact assessment has been completed to assess the implications that may arise from the 
proposed technical changes.

13. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS
Used to prepare this report, in accordance with the Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985)

 
The Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) (Amendment) 
(No. 2) Regulations 2014
The Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) (Amendment) 
Regulations 2014
The Housing Benefit (Abolition of the Family Premium and date of claim amendment) 
Regulations 2015 (S.I. 2015 No. 1857).

19



Appendix 1 – Draft Council Tax Discretionary Hardship Policy 

A person who is liable to pay council tax on a property has the right to apply to the local council for 
a reduction in the amount of council tax due to be paid.  This is included in legislation and is stated 
in Section 13a of the Local Government Finance Act 1992.

The council has the power to award a discount for a period of time it thinks is reasonable and it can 
choose to reduce the amount of council tax payable. The Council can also decide if necessary to 
reduce liability to nil.

The council has the right to choose whether to use its powers on a case by case basis or it also 
has the right to specify a class of use. A class of use is where several people who pay council tax 
fall into a group because their circumstances are similar – for example; council tax payers that 
have had to leave their homes due to flooding.

Section 13A(1)(c) of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 (as inserted by Section 76 of the 
Local Government Act 2003) states:

Where a person is liable to pay Council Tax in respect of any chargeable dwelling 
and day, the billing authority for the area in which the dwelling is situated may 
reduce the amount which s/he us liable to pay as respects the dwelling and the 
day to such extent as it thinks fit.

a. The power under subsection 1) above includes the power to reduce an 
amount to nil.

b. The power under subsection 1) may be exercised in relation to particular 
cases or by determining a class of case in which liability is to be reduced to 
an extent provided by the determination.

1. This policy comes into effect from 1 April 2016.

2. An application for a reduction will not be considered from any applicant who has been 
prosecuted and convicted for any welfare benefit fraud, including Administrative Penalty or 
a Sanction in the six years prior to the application.

3. There are financial implications to awarding discounts other than those currently available 
under the statutory legislation, and the financial burden of Section 13A discounts has to be 
met through an increase in the general level of council tax for other payers.

4. As a consequence of this the council will only consider using its powers to reduce council 
tax liability for any council tax payer or class of payers in exceptional circumstances.  The 
council will treat all application on their individual merits, but some or all of the following 
criteria must be met in each case:

 There must be evidence of financial hardship or personal circumstances that justify a 
reduction in council tax liability.

 The council tax payer must satisfy the Council that all reasonable steps have been taken to 
resolve their situation prior to application.

 The customer has applied for council tax support where applicable.  The localised Council 
Tax Support Scheme exists the ensure that those on a low income receive financial support 
with their council tax.

 All other statutory discounts/reliefs have been awarded.
 The council tax payer does not have access to other assets that could be used to pay 

council tax.
 The situation and reason for the application must be outside of the council tax payer’s 

control.
 The amount outstanding must not be the result of wilful refusal to pay or culpable neglect.

20



 In the case of an unoccupied property it must not be the sole or main residence of the 
council tax payer, and the applicant must show that they have made reasonable efforts to 
sell the property or return the lease.

 Priority will be given to those applicants who are under the age of 22 and were formerly in 
social services care under section 20 or 31(1)(a) of the Children Act 1989.

 The council’s finances allow for a reduction to be made. If the fund is exhausted, 
acceptance will only be in exceptional circumstances.

Claiming Discretionary Relief

5. In the first instance, the council tax payer seeks advice from Peterborough Citizens Advice 
Bureau

6. Requests for reductions in council tax liability will be required in writing from the council tax 
payer, their advocate/appoints or a recognised third party acting on their behalf.

7. The application should be in such form as required by the council

8. The application should relate to the current council tax year, unless the liable person has 
just received an account following late valuation for previous year(s).

9. The council may request any reasonable evidence in support of an application, including a 
financial statement and evidence of income and outgoings

10. The applicant must agree to repay any discretionary discount believed to have been 
overpaid for whatever reason

Decision Making

11. Decisions in respect of Section 13A applications will be recorded for transparency.  Annual 
information regarding claims and awards will be submitted to the Chief Financial Officer.

12. Decision will be made by …………………………………………………….. (Council officer) 

Discount Period

13.  Any award will cease either at the end of the financial year or earlier if  there is a change 
to the council tax payer’s circumstances that mean s/he is no longer entitled to the 
discount or such other restrictions on time/maximum award as agreed to be the policy for 
the council

14.  The discount is intended as short term help.  It is not the intention to award or re-award in 
perpetuity

Amount of Discount
15. The discount will be calculated against the daily council tax liability after deducting any 

other reliefs, discounts and council tax support and will not exceed that figure

16. The discount to be awarded is entirely at the discretion of the council

17. Any discount will be applied to the relevant council tax account to reduce liability

Notification of a Decision

18.  The applicant will be notified of the decision in writing

19. The decision notice will include the reasons for the decision

21



20. If a discount is granted the notice will include the amount of the discount and the period for 
which it is granted

Review of Decision

21. Under the Local Government Finance Act 1992 there is a right of appeal.  In the first 
instance the aggrieved person must serve written notice on the council stating the grounds 
for the grievance. 

22. Where the aggrieved person is notified in writing by the council that grievance is not well 
founded and s/he is still aggrieved s/he may appeal to the Valuation Tribunal

Fraudulent Claims

23.  If a reduction has been made as a result of a false or fraudulent claim the council reserves 
the right to withdraw the award thereby increasing the amount of council tax payable

24. Examples of false or fraudulent claims include, but are not limited to:

 Misrepresentation or failure to disclose a material fact, whether fraudulently or 
otherwise

 Failure to notify any relevant change in circumstances, whether fraudulently or 
otherwise

25. Where a discount is granted, applicants are required to notify the council of any relevant 
changes in their circumstances that could affect the award.

       Examples of changes include, but are not limited to

 Change of address.
 If the applicant or a member of the household leaves the dwelling temporarily or 

permanently.
 If the applicant’s or a member of their household’s income or capital changes.
 If the number and/or circumstances of others in the household changes.
 If there is a change to any factor that caused or contributed to their hardship.
 If hardship ends.
 If there is any change to circumstances that were included in the application for the 

discount.

26. The council will consider prosecuting any applicant who makes a false statement or 
provides fraudulent evidence in support of an application

Equalities Statement

27. The council is committed to equality and fairness. Equality is about ensuring that people 
are treated fairly and given fair chances. It I also about ensuring that people receive fair 
outcomes in the standard of service they receive from the council.  This incorporates 
everyone, regardless of their race, gender, age, religion or belief, sexual orientation and/or 
disability

 

22


	Agenda
	3 Budget 2016/17 and Medium Term Financial Strategy to 2025/26
	3. Appendix A - Medium Term Financial Strategy 2016-17 to 2025-26
	3. Appendix B - Council Tax Support Scheme Consultation 2016-17


